Developing an Archaeological Specific Geodatabase to Chronicle Historical Perspectives at Bethsaida, Israel

by

Cynthia Burrows

A Thesis Presented to the Faculty of the USC Graduate School University of Southern California In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science (Geographic Information Science and Technology)

December 2016

Copyright © 2016 by Cynthia Burrows

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my husband, Jim Schilling, my mom, Miriam Burrows, my children, Alyssa and Ryan, and all of my incredibly supportive family members and friends for their patience and encouragement throughout this process. Special thanks to Anton and Lenny for their willingness to lay by my side for hours on end while receiving little more than occasional belly rubs and treats.

List of Figures	i
List of Tables	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
List of Abbreviations	v
Abstract	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Study Area and Project Background	2
1.1.1 Study Area	2
1.1.2 Bethsaida Excavation Project History	4
1.2 Motivation	7
1.3 Methods Overview	10
1.4 Thesis Structure	12
Chapter 2: Background and Literature Review	
2.1 Literature Review	14
2.1.1 The Need to Move Toward Digital Analysis	14
2.1.2 Potential for Increasing Collaborative Research	15
2.1.3 Working with GIS in a Microcosm	16
2.1.4 Visualizing the Space-Time Continuum	
2.1.5 The Case for Adoption of Handheld Devices in the Field	20
2.2 Spatial Database Design	20
2.2.1 Ontological and Semantical Consistency	21
2.2.2 An Archaeological Project-Specific Database	
2.2.3 Best Practices in Geodatabase Design	23

Table of Contents

Chapter 3: Methodology	
3.1 Overview of Methodology	24
3.2 Research Design	25
3.2.1 Equipment and Software Used	25
3.2.2 Statement of Data Description, Requirements, and Quality	
3.3 Data Narrative	27
3.3.1 Tabular Data	
3.3.2 Stratification Data	
3.3.3 CAD Drawing	
3.3.4 Excavation Grid	
3.3.5 Aerial Photography	
3.3.6 Point/Polygon Field Data	
3.4 Geodatabase Development Rationale	
3.4.1 Preexisting Entity Relationship Diagram	
3.4.2 The Redesigned Entity Relationship Diagram	
3.4.3 Testing and Sample Queries	42
Chapter 4: Results	
4.1 Geodatabase Design and Relationships	44
4.2 Populating the Database	47
4.3 Query Results	
4.4 Visualizing the Data	
4.5 Summary	61
Chapter 5: Conclusions	
5.1 Lessons Learned	62
5.2 Onboarding Consortium Archaeologists	64

5.3 Recommendations for Field Collection	64
5.4 Future Development	65
References	. 67
Appendix A: Satellite Coverage in the Field	. 70

List of Figures

Figure 1. Geographic location of the ancient city of Bethsaida, Israel
Figure 2. Current areas of interest within the Bethsaida Excavation Project
Figure 3. Katsianis et al. (2007) Temporal Class Diagram
Figure 4. Tennant's tables of ceramic in a geodatabase
Figure 5. A portion of the Finds table
Figure 6. Sample legacy data (right) successfully imported to ArcMap
Figure 7. Imported CAD drawing with three georeferenced points
Figure 8. Fishnet polygons applied in ArcMap
Figure 9. Entire excavation overview after georeferencing
Figure 10. UTM zone 36N, region of study site
Figure 11. Trimble during data collection in Bethsaida, Israel, 2015
Figure 12. Data collected in the field using ArcPad via Windows Mobile
Figure 13. Existing ERD
Figure 14. Finalized concept for the new spatial database
Figure 15. Relationships within the ERD
Figure 16. Geodatabase structure as shown in ArcMap
Figure 17. Excel data, the Metal entity, prepared for loading into ArcMap
Figure 18. Points captured site wide in the field for georeferencing purposes
Figure 19. The five points used for georeferencing purposes
Figure 20. Close up of georeferencing points and resulting accuracy at city gate area
Figure 21. CAD drawing overlay in ArcMap at 40% transparency 57
Figure 22. Example visualization of coin data
i

Figure 23. Variation of visualization of coin data	. 59
Figure 24. Example visualization of varying categories of finds in an area	. 60
Figure 25. Example visualization of varying categories of finds in an area	. 61

List of Tables

Table 1. Data Description, Sources, Requirements, and Quality	. 26
Table 2. Coded Value Domains	. 41
Table 3. Sample Test Queries	. 43
Table 4. Records Used to Populate Database	. 48
Table 5. Query Results	. 53
Table 6. Topology	. 72
Table 7. Relationship Classes	. 72
Table 8. Domains	. 72
Table 9. Site Entity	. 73
Table 10. Grid Cell Entity	. 73
Table 11. Area Entity	. 74
Table 12. Loci Entity	. 74
Table 13. Basket Entity	. 74
Table 14. Strata Entity	. 75
Table 15. Ceramic Entity	. 75
Table 16. Glass Entity	. 75
Table 17. Metal Entity	. 76
Table 18. Organic Entity	. 77
Table 19. Stone Entity	. 77

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to the Bethsaida Consortium for their willingness to share all of their data with me in the development of this project. Special thanks to Dr. Carl Savage for all the intricate details and huge data repository, to Dr. Harry Jol for the high-resolution aerial photography, to Dr. Rami Arav for images and historical information, and to Christina Etzrodt for the CAD drawings. Special thanks to Dr. Jerome Hall for his constant encouragement and critique of my academic writing, and to Jim Schilling for his in-depth Excel experience and knowledge sharing, and for helping me to shape this project from the beginning during endless hours of discussion and brainstorming. Thank you to my USC thesis committee members and faculty advisors for your knowledge and expertise, and for keeping me on track and seeing me through this process.

List of Abbreviations

BCE	Before Common Era
CAD	Computer-aided design
CE	Common Era
ERD	Entity relationship diagram
GIS	Geographic information system
GCS	Geographic Coordinate System
GPS	Global Positioning System
MS	Microsoft
PDF	Portable document format
PDOP	Position Dilution of Precision
SSCI	Spatial Science
USC	University of Southern California
UTM	Universal Transverse Mercator
WGS	World Geodetic System

Abstract

Annual fieldwork at the Bethsaida, Israel archaeological excavation project yields an unwieldy amount of data that have historically been processed and managed via paper-based means and have no associated spatial data. There has been little adoption of modern technology applications to manage this data, even in recent years. The programming objective of this project involved designing and implementing an intra-site, archaeological specific, spatial database for collecting and managing excavation artifacts. A project-based approach was taken toward improved digital data management, tracking, mapping, and visualization in the examination of temporal and spatial archaeological data, thus facilitating the ability for archaeologists to gain new and otherwise undetected insights through spatial pattern analysis. Legacy data, along with data collected via a handheld Global Position System (GPS) device in 2015, aided in establishing the dataset parameters, feature classes, attributes, and domains of the database. This excavation site offered a unique opportunity to explore the space-time continuum through numerous human settlements evidenced by the vertical archaeological record representing the 10th century before Common Era (BCE) through the 1st century Common Era (CE). Visualization of the distribution, concentrations, and spatial relationships of material culture to settlement groups potentially illustrates social trends and cultural practices over the centuries. Data recording will become more consistent and efficient through structured, predefined categories and attributes, bringing greater organization via ontological and semantical consistency. Field collection will be further streamlined and enhanced by the adoption of handheld devices working congruently as an extension of the new geodatabase, collecting artifact information and spatial data, including stratification, in real time. Ongoing research and global collaborative opportunities become possible with the geodatabase, and greater cohesion amongst the diverse excavation team is

vi

enhanced. Archaeologists are further able to forecast areas for future excavation based on the visualizations.

Chapter 1: Introduction

This project involves the creation of a project-specific archaeological artifact spatial database for a Geographic Information Systems (GIS) application to a site case study at Bethsaida, Israel. The study area encompasses a twenty-six-acre extent and reaches back in time to the tenth century BCE, chronicling several periods of human settlement in the vertical record. Objectives included designing, building, populating, and testing the database as well as introducing a handheld device field collection method as a companion to the database. The application was then reviewed and presented to archaeologists for their feedback and recommended changes. The resulting logic, time, and space representation satisfies an underlying void within the field of archaeology.

As a result of this project, archaeologists can gain a better understanding of and visualize the distribution, concentrations, and spatial relationships of artifacts to settlement groups that have inhabited this site from the 10th century BCE through the 1st century CE. Hyde, et al. (2012) discuss the benefits and enhancements GIS brought to work at the San Diego Presidio Chapel, especially in regards to synthesizing and analyzing intra-site data and reassembling past cultural practices in order to draw conclusions about social trends. Similarly, Bethsaida researchers will have improved abilities to target critical grids of archaeological interest within each of the stratification layers, and to identify correlations and trends associated with specific periods of inhabited time. This also serves as a tool in establishing direction for future seasonal excavation work. Stratigraphic sequences introduce a new level of complexity when compared with traditional GIS visualizations. Because Bethsaida was settled on numerous occasions over the centuries, it offered a unique opportunity to introduce and exploit GIS capabilities. González-Tennant (2009) concluded that GIS expands upon and creates new and superior visualization opportunities in archaeology beyond the traditional section-style drawing. In section 1.1 the project background is discussed. Section 1.2 reviews the motivational factors that inspired the development of this geodatabase. Section 1.3 provides a brief methods overview, and Section 1.4 introduces the remaining structure of this thesis.

1.1 Study Area and Project Background

This section is broken down into subsections that will explore the project background. Subsection 1.1.1 provides relevant information about the geographic area of this case study. Subsection 1.1.2 examines the Bethsaida Excavation Project history.

1.1.1 Study Area

The survey area for this case study consists of a 26-acre parcel in Israel. Figure 1 provides reference to site location. Bethsaida is more specifically located on the eastern bank of the Jordan River at the northernmost end of the Sea of Galilee, in the larger region known as the Golan Heights.



Figure 1. Geographic location of the ancient city of Bethsaida, Israel (BibleHistory.com [last accessed 21 April 2014]).

Various selected areas at the excavation site are of primary focus each season when the dig occurs, and recent activity (2012 – 2015) has been in the areas commonly known as Area A, Area T, Area C, and Area B. These areas vary in size but are usually approximately 10 meters by 10 meters square. These terms for the various areas will be used throughout this paper to describe and refer to the intra-site location. Figure 2 provides general proximity of these areas of interest.



Figure 2. Current areas of interest within the Bethsaida Excavation Project.

1.1.2 Bethsaida Excavation Project History

Bethsaida was discovered in 1987 by archaeologist Dr. Rami Arav of the University of Nebraska, Omaha. This ancient city was the capital city of the kingdom of Geshur in the 11th century BCE, and later, in the 1st century, became the city of Bethsaida, which is mentioned several times in the New Testament of the Bible. Bethsaida is said to have been home to several of the apostles (Peter, Andrew, Philip, James, and John), and according to scripture is where

Jesus performed notable miracles (feeding the multitudes, healing the blind man). Geshur was home to the Armenian King, Talmai, whose daughter Maacah, became the wife of King David (Laub 2016, Bethsaida Excavations 2016, Arav and Freund 2004). In fact, the royal palace ruins are a significant part of what has been uncovered thus far at the excavation, as is a recently discovered access tunnel behind the palace near the city gate.

As the significance of this discovery spread to the academic and religious communities, it became the focus of great interest. Under Dr. Arav's direction, excavation gets under way in late May each year and lasts only six weeks in duration annually. Numerous basalt stone structures, Roman roads, Iron Age floors and valuable artifacts have been uncovered, and several civilizations are known to have inhabited the area based on the cultural materials left behind. The current asset inventory of the digital artifact database contains nearly 40,000 items of varying classifications (ceramic, glass, stone, bone, fishing, etc.), items associated with eleven centuries of inhabited time, and collection dates ranging from 1989 to 2014.

The Consortium of the Bethsaida Excavations Project (hereafter known as the Consortium, the major beneficiary of this project) and its university affiliates work under the oversight of Dr. Rami Arav of the University of Nebraska, Omaha. Together with volunteers, the Consortium annually excavates this ancient city. Today the ruins draw the attention of visitors from around the world as a premier site to visit in northern Israel. Rondelli (2008) cites the importance of settlement analysis and the need for understanding the spatial distribution of artifacts and human adaptations in synthesizing the actions of past settlement systems. Eight strata, or layers, have thus far been identified and currently represent historic time periods of activity at Bethsaida. Tripcevish and Wenke (2010) further conclude that although stratigraphic

analysis remains one of the biggest problems faced in moving toward a digital environment, it is also the area that stands to gain the most from it.

Prior to this project getting under way, data management was heavily paper-based and the archaeologists were eager to move toward digital management of tracking, site mapping, and visualization. González-Tennant (2009) has noticed that although the gains to be seen by archaeologists from GIS implementation are great, there are insufficient educational resources as they attempt to implement this new technology.

The data gathered from Bethsaida has been recorded using many different means over the years, primarily non-digital until the recent adoption of a database software program housed on a local laptop computer (Microsoft Access (MS) version 2013 database). At the end of each excavation day, artifacts of significance are catalogued and data is entered, but the spatial data was lacking. Further, the consistency of data recording was identified as an overarching problem that could be vastly improved by establishing ontological and semantical consistency. Classifications for each artifact category were further broken down into distinct types that are known to the area, and this geodatabase provides and limits the available options for data input, rather than allowing open-ended entry. Tennant (2007) examined in depth the benefits a geodatabase can bring to site analysis when carefully designed feature sets with properly established relationships and domains are included. Data entry efficiency and accuracy can be greatly improved due to limited choices offered, eliminating invalid entries. Digital cataloging establishes data consistency, and may serve as a model for other ancient sites in the region with similar artifact find catalogues.

The entry of the vast amount of data owned by the Consortium is seen as a future or ongoing project for excavation volunteers or grad students at one of the participating Consortium universities, but was not a part of this project.

1.2 Motivation

This section examines the various motivational factors that inspired this project, including the author's personal connection to this excavation and reasons for investing in its development. A system to manage, analyze, and visualize large volumes of data was needed. With this system, greater collaborative research in the off-season could also be facilitated and the potential for heightened understanding of the data could be realized. The ability to explore the vertical measurement of the stratification layers was a unique opportunity as was the ability make the workflow in the field more efficient.

The Bethsaida Excavation Project was first introduced to me during my work in Israel on an unrelated archaeology research project in 2012. Since then, I have volunteered with the annual summer excavation team in 2013, 2014, and 2015. My expertise in the field of technology combined with my strong interest and undergraduate degree in anthropology and archaeology afforded a unique opportunity to explore, introduce, and blend digital systems into existing processes to expand collaboration potential and create more efficient site documentation. While working alongside archaeologists out in the field, it became evident that much information was being lost due to lack of immediate, detailed, and consistent recording, and that GIS capabilities could join forces with the Consortium to ease not only the burden of their post-excavation documentation analyses, but also to increase the level of accuracy and detail of the data collected. In short, many problems with the existing workflow and processing of information

could be mitigated through the development and adoption of a well-designed geospatial database and the resulting analyses could be greatly enhanced.

Excavations yield a great volume of data each season, and while the data is entered into the MS Access database on a daily basis, that data is rarely processed promptly, catalogued accurately, or in a manner laymen can comprehend. As experienced at Bethsaida, and as Tripcevich and Wernke (2010) conclude, traditional fieldwork and reliance on paper and pencil techniques has hindered the adoption of new technologies. Additionally, GIS spatial databases, mapping, and visualization have not been frequently implemented on large-scale, intra-site excavation projects, and there is great potential for discovering untapped trends amongst the data. New techniques offer opportunities for creating greater organization amongst the existing chaos. Clearly defined categories of common artifact types and features combined with the ability to associate a time period and spatial data with an artifact creates an entirely new way to query information for visual consumption and analysis.

One objective of this project was to greatly improve the temporal and spatial examination of the archaeological record of the Bethsaida excavation site. This geodatabase establishes a consistent reference for the excavation grid and site monuments, thoroughly and consistently documents artifacts collected, associates finds with specific strata and spatial information, and provides researchers with a tool to aid in understanding the historical land use and cultural trends.

Geodatabases can be accessed remotely online by researchers worldwide. This means potentially expanded collaborative research opportunities in the future. A server-based spatial database facilitates year-round access and provides worldwide research opportunities, in contrast to the Bethsaida data, which is available only on-site during the active excavation season. Hyde

et al. (2012) cite the research potential and analysis variety that GIS could yield during the postexcavation period. This is a key point, given that the excavation season is limited to six weeks each year during the summer months. Research progress goes unhindered by time constraints given this implementation allowing expanded access for numerous studies.

Representing excavation data via visualization and illustrative techniques on maps and models helps us to gain new insights through spatial analysis. It may be possible to establish patterns through visualization that go undetected otherwise. González-Tennant (2009) believes that the power introduced to archaeologists by GIS will allow them to more easily gauge spatial relationships in a complex environment. Because of the complexity of this particular excavation, significant value may be realized. Infographics are powerful depictions of raw data and can be understood by non-experts in the field of archaeology, including students, visitors to the site, and others with strong interests in the field. Density, clustering, proximity, and orientation pattern analysis can be powerfully communicated through visual renderings. One goal of this project was to accommodate the specific needs of the Bethsaida excavation data and types of artifacts contained therein, offering the ability to query and visualize data that has been collected over the years in a robust environment.

Numerous artifacts have been recovered from this historically significant site. This excavation offered a study area where many settlements have resided over time and are evidenced by the artifact record. GIS analytics provide the ability to spatially relate the six strata to one another and to visualize materials from each inhabited era while also keeping them in context with one another. Subsequent and previous settlement patterns can also be easily visualized and compared. Hyde et al. (2012) emphasize the benefit of using 3D and other

visualization techniques to represent stratigraphy for a more thorough examination of the aspects (horizontal and vertical) of the material culture at the Presidio.

The data described and tested herein creates a new and exciting blend of information that has not come together in the past. Archaeologists and Consortium members that work at this excavation site tend to focus their attention primarily on their own specific area of interest and not on the project as a whole. Experts have specializations in osteology, pottery/ceramics, ancient coins, Iron Age, biblical history, theology, and more. Therefore, the types of data collected over the years may vary greatly, with different features and attributes recorded.

Data collection techniques via the use of handheld instruments with a high degree of accuracy can facilitate the uniform collection and recording of finds in the field. González-Tennant (2009) believes that data accuracy can be improved in the field by implementing a workflow that includes handheld devices loaded with a data entry form that restricts users to choosing from specific values. This improves the spatial context of the objects and provenience by attaching precise latitude (x) and longitude (y) coordinates at the time of the find. Point data collected in this manner in 2015 serves as an example of an enhanced and efficient workflow and was amongst the sample data entered during the testing phase of the geodatabase. An extension of this project and geodatabase is a data dictionary for handheld devices that can collect the data in real time out in the field going forward.

1.3 Methods Overview

The existing database was critically examined and journal articles were investigated to establish a foundation for the necessary range of entities, attributes, and relationships to be considered for inclusion in this database as well as potential problems that may be encountered.

Most influential were Tennant (2007), Gonzalez-Tennant (2009), Katsianis et al (2008), Zeiler and Murphy (2010, and Yeung and Hall (2007).

A needs assessment of the existing Microsoft MS Access database revealed a number of entities that were not in use and not needed as well as an unnecessary number of relationships and redundancies that could be reduced by a more streamlined design and incorporation of foreign keys. Based on this assessment a list of database entities and tables including attributes were assembled.

The scope then advanced to designing the entity relationship diagram (ERD) where the relationships between the tables and key fields were established. Since the ERD is the essence and blueprint of this geodatabase, careful design at this stage was critical to the success of the project.

The preexisting database did not account for the stratification, or vertical/depth measurements, so it was necessary to incorporate a means of categorizing depth for each of the stratum. A schema was developed to serve the purpose for this model, and a suitable categorization strategy was created for incorporation into this project. Note that actual elevation readings are a part of the legacy data in the Loci table. However, those readings do not carry over to each artifact individually.

The model was vetted for errors and completeness, and the approved ERD moved forward to the construction phase of the database using ArcGIS. The ERD was translated into a working model that was used for data entry.

A fishnet was used in ArcGIS to create a new master grid on a reference map. This grid acts as an overarching framework and constant point of reference when measuring distances and

elevations in the field. This schema was created to serve as a substitute in this model since the actual, and original, data was not available and had not been properly maintained over time.

High definition aerial photography was georeferenced and used as the basemap for this project, which provides the foundational layer for subsequent analysis and adds visual interest. Detailed computer-aided design (CAD) drawings were manually digitized and used for referencing points and monuments and was compared to data collected in 2015. These drawings were originally created in AutoCAD, however these data were provided in PDF format for this thesis.

Tabular data exported from the MS Access database was formatted and edited in MS Excel version 2013 to include spatial references and additional fields as necessary and then imported to ArcGIS for visualization. This was a major amount of work. Data collected in 2015 was uploaded to the geodatabase for testing purposes and serves as an example of improved workflow through mobile device integration in the field. This data was compared to the georeferenced aerial imagery and the excavation grid to establish degree of error to previous processes and documentation. This dataset consists of point and polygon shapefiles (feature classes) with domains exhibiting the power of limited input options.

1.4 Thesis Structure

This thesis is broken down into five chapters. Following this introductory chapter, Chapter 2, Background and Literature Review, examines other similar works and validates a void in the field of archaeology that this project aimed to fill. Chapter 3, Methodology, provides an in-depth look at the way in which this project came to fruition technically. Chapter 4, Results, discusses the outcomes and analytical benefits gained through the development of this

geodatabase. Chapter 5, Conclusions, is a reflection of the lessons learned, successes and obstacles encountered during this project creation.

Chapter 2: Background and Literature Review

This chapter explores some of the problems encountered during excavation periods, and reviews relevant literature for the development of this archaeological geodatabase. The literature consists of articles from leading anthropology and archaeology journals, volumes of published research on Bethsaida, publications from GIS journals, and Esri publications. Section 2.1 provides an indepth look at literatures addressing similar problems as those faced at Bethsaida and substantiates field-related needs. Section 2.2 reviews geodatabase designs, components, and features that influenced specific needs of this project, as well as general best-practices in spatial database design.

2.1 Literature Review

Many in the field of archaeology share overarching difficulties, but as trends toward digital techniques and analysis become more prevalent, powerful, and efficient, technically skilled individuals entering the field find numerous opportunities for improvement, as evidenced by the literatures cited here. Section 2.2.1 explores the need for adoption of digital technologies in the field of archaeology. Section 2.2.2 discusses how digital enhancements can increase collaborative research. Section 2.2.3 validates the use of GIS on a large-scale project. Section 2.2.4 highlights the unique opportunity to model and analyze an archaeological excavation's stratification contents. Section 2.2.5 recognizes the value in adopting a field strategy that incorporates handheld devices that can be synchronized with the geodatabase.

2.1.1 The Need to Move Toward Digital Analysis

Consistency is one of the overarching problems with the data reporting at Bethsaida. There were no limited options or selections to choose from during data entry, everything currently was open ended so queries did not return accurate or complete results. Brovelli and Maurino (2000) present a concept for structuring archaeological data in the context of a GIS environment and XML format model. The development of ARCHEOGIS, a web-based geodatabase application, aims to improve access and entry of excavation data remotely. In doing so, they present a thoughtfully considered hierarchical structure for a site and metadata model which was referred to during this project development. They address the difficulty presented by the lack of computer fluent professionals in the archaeology field and stress the need for consistency in data reporting, and for standardized models for site and metadata.

At an excavation site in Peru, Tricevich and Wernke (2010) use a GIS data-gathering system to digitize and accelerate the gathering of artifacts and structural feature information at an excavation site in order to improve recording and analysis. The authors highlight the benefit of having an entry method, or mobile form, which is foolproof in gathering accurate spatial provenience in the field, moving away from handwritten recording, emphasizing the need for a complex artifact attribute collection. This is a byproduct of a well-designed spatial database. Examples of data dictionaries and the manner in which the stratigraphy is recorded are also discussed and addressed. This type of system eliminates typographic errors and increases efficiency of data entry through the use of drop-down selections, radio button choices, and check boxes whether data is collected in the field or post excavation.

2.1.2 Potential for Increasing Collaborative Research

One of the primary difficulties experienced in post-excavation analysis is the physical distance between the Consortium members, which include: University of Nebraska Omaha, University of Hartford, Wartburg College, University of San Diego, University of Tulsa, Sacred Heart Seminary and School of Theology, St. Francis Theological College, College of Idaho, Truman State University, and Drew University (Bethsaida Excavations, 2016). Hyde et al.

(2012) illustrate in their study at the San Diego Presidio Chapel, that the implementation of GIS enabled a higher degree of synthesis and collaboration in the analysis of their study, and concurred that post-excavation research and collaboration benefitted and was facilitated by its adoption. The Consortium was eager to have a process that was more inclusive of the members during the off-season, one that would increase and improve communication and analytical processes.

Reed et al. (2015) stress the need for collaborative research environments in spatial databases in *Digital Data Collection in Paleoanthropology*. They emphasize the need for sharing in order to advance research in the scientific field of paleoanthropology and introduce a model for a web-based structure to facilitate this type of collaboration. Research, documentation, and publication at Bethsaida all benefit from the ability to share data and work in greater unity and less in silo operations. Additionally, the authors endorse the need for mobile recording adoption and effective database design to improve workflows dramatically over previously used (paper) methods.

2.1.3 Working with GIS in a Microcosm

The small geographic context that is the subject for analysis of this project is one of the unusual aspects introduced here. Bethsaida is a 26-acre parcel, and active grid squares within that area may be only 100 square meters in size. Because equipment today has much greater capacity for accuracy than in the past, recording finds can be accurate to the nearest centimeter in some cases. One challenge in conducting this literature review was to find other studies that had effectively implemented GIS strategies on a large-scale project. And while the geographic extent itself has little bearing on the geodatabase design, the resulting analyses will benefit greatly from use of equipment with centimeter level accuracy. In *Memories of a world crisis: The*

archaeology of a former Soviet nuclear missile site in Cuba, author Burstrom (2009) discusses the investigation by archaeologists and GIS professionals into the Cuban Missile Crisis in the Cuban town of Santa Cruz de Los Pinos. Their goal is to identify and document remaining evidence of missile sites using GIS, resulting in many untold stories from the area. This study being so similar to that of an archaeological excavation documents success of a GIS study in a microcosm environment, or small geographic area, and also establishes the relevance of the ability to accurately detect, record, and document objects in a small geographic environment.

Similarly, researchers document select Inuit settlement details with a high degree of accuracy by implementing GIS to catalog and map archaeological monuments and settlement patterns in the Kazan River region, most specifically, caribou crossing, intending to tie oral tradition to the archaeological record. Authors Stewart et al. (2000) discuss the process and needs in developing feature classes and a spatial database to support the use of GIS in a small geographic area (500 by 500 meters).

Kacey Pham's (2015) master's thesis work is very similar in nature to the project proposed here. And I did, in fact, work closely with Pham on her prototype spatial database in SSCI-582, which was further modified and applied to her thesis work. While Pham's work relates specifically to a paleontological application at the La Brea Tar Pits, the database proposed here will bear a similar foundational structure resulting from the work done in partnership in the Spatial Databases class. Her work in a very small geographical context speaks to the ability of GIS to be precise and thorough in the documentation and handling of archaeological finds and to exploit the depth, or vertical nature of time and the law of superposition.

2.1.4 Visualizing the Space-Time Continuum

One of the greatest challenges to overcome with the Bethsaida project was designing and accommodating the z, or depth, data. Researchers from San Diego State University used existing data from the San Diego Presidio Chapel excavation in their case study and performed spatial analysis on burials at the site to reconstruct the ruins using 3D models and GIS technology. Hyde et al. (2012) explain how visualization, data management, and analysis were incorporated in this successful project, which illustrated the space-time continuum by plotting the z coordinate, or stratification/vertical depth measurement. Their study has much in common with the proposed project, specifically the visualization elements, and the inclusion of the vertical measurement to represent the stratification. In addition to Pham's (2015) study, this exemplifies the incorporation of the z measurement for study of the vertical record.

Katsianis et al. (2007) discuss the challenges in visualizing the spatiotemporal nature of stratification in archaeology. The authors point out that an artifact can have "multiple temporal values" in that it could have been manufactured at one time, used at another, deposited in the archaeological record at yet another. They discuss the problem presented by stratigraphy, cite the need for spatial databases to accommodate the complex nature of an object, and propose a solution that is "object-space-time" conscious. Examples of their entity relationship diagram proved to be extremely helpful in the development of this project. Figure 3 shows the data handling in their Temporal Class Diagram.



Figure 3. Katsianis et al. (2007) Temporal Class Diagram.

Birkenfeld et al. (2015) conclude "the application of precision piece plotting (point provenance) of finds to obtain their precise x, y, and z coordinates continues to be sporadic." In their approach to work at Wonderwerk Cave, they employ a "reverse stratigraphic construction" technique. They present a very methodical and logical approach to solving the complexity of stratigraphy in GIS.

Anderson and Burke (2008) document the difficulty that can be presented with complex stratigraphy in an intra-site archaeological analysis and cite the gains to be made through analysis of the vertical, third, or z, dimension, distribution of artifacts. They argue that stratification cannot be arbitrarily determined and does not remain consistent, that considerations have to be made for interruptions in the stratigraphy by human or other means.

2.1.5 The Case for Adoption of Handheld Devices in the Field

Data collection and entry for the Bethsaida Excavation can be vastly improved through the adoption of handheld devices in the field as demonstrated by the workflow introduced in this project and collection methods used in 2015. Newhard et al. (2013) highlight two archaeological case study surveys in Anatolia and conclude that the adoption of handheld devices in the field allowed for the rapid gathering of data and fast processing time for further analysis using new GIS techniques. They found that although the data collection process can become more cumbersome in the field, the reduced post-processing time greatly improved productivity and workflow efficiency, citing increased accuracy of point placement within the excavation survey area, which was favorable to visualizing a general or random distribution of point density. They accurately illustrate and replicate actual artifact concentrations.

Reed et al. (2015) outline the benefits and strategy for using mobile devices in the collection of field data, citing the affordable nature of GPS devices today along with dependable integrated workflows to spatial databases, which presumably ease the level of difficulty in implementation and offers a wider availability of tools and software applications that can be employed. Tripcevich and Wernke (2010) concur and acknowledge that the workflow and efficient capture of data are great benefits realized by the adoption of a digital field strategy at the excavation site.

2.2 Spatial Database Design

This section addresses some of the unique needs of an archaeological specific geodatabase. Section 2.2.1 discusses the need for ontological and semantical consistency in order to classify objects according to a structure that is adhered to. Section 2.2.2 references

actual geodatabases that have been designed for similar implementation. Section 2.2.3 reviews best practices in geodatabase design.

2.2.1 Ontological and Semantical Consistency

As previously mentioned, inconsistent data entry presents numerous problems in analysis and query results. Sharon, Degan, and Tzionit (2004) cite similar findings to Newhard et al. (2013), highlighting the value in implementing GIS technology at an archaeological survey project in Ramat Beit Shemesh, Israel. They find that handheld data capture revolutionized the ability to quantify spatial information gathered at the site. This study is extremely relevant and in close geographic proximity as well. They also point out the significance and stress the need for an extremely well organized data collection system and well-defined ontology as necessary foundations for successful outcomes, arguing that archaeologists in general should begin to move toward GIS since other data sources and documentation are moving in that direction. The authors had several objectives including the need for a database that was unified in all aspects of collection, analysis, and output, citing that lack of a common format amongst the data was a critical hindrance to the collaborative work.

Rondelli et al. (2008) address the need for improvement of artifact classification at archaeological sites. The interpretation and consistency of reporting currently varies from location to location and the authors propose semantic and ontological standards for analytical purposes and deeper analytical discovery. They further argue that large repositories of information could be greatly enhanced and more effectively queried with the proposed standardization. Pre-defined choices, well thought out entities, attributes, domains, and relationships are critical to the success of the geodatabase.

2.2.2 An Archaeological Project-Specific Database

Many database designs were investigated before proceeding with development, and it became clear that each and every archaeological excavation needs a customized entity relationship diagram as a foundation. González-Tennant (2009) determined the needs for and implemented a GIS model of data acquisition and presentation through hands-on fieldwork at four gold mining locations in New Zealand, citing improved accuracy over traditional methods with continuously improving equipment and software. The diagram and discussion of the geodatabase that resulted from their work is similar to this project. The need to organize, filter, and visualize data from these sites drove the development of a predictive GIS model. The author argues that digital technologies are continuously improving as equipment and software become increasingly more precise and accurate.

Tennant (2007) chronicles theoretical collection of excavation data using GIS and proposes a design for and implementation of a geodatabase complete with detailed breakdown of feature classes, attributes and relationships. Figure 4 is an example of how ceramics and relationships might be handled in a geospatial database according to Tennant.

Simple featur Artifacts_Ce	e class ramics_Point	ts		Cont	Geometry Point ains M values No	
Field name	Data type	Allow	Default value	Domain	Coded value domain	
OBJECTID	Object ID	-			Ceramic Armacis	
SHAPE	Geometry	Yes		and the second se	Description Type of ceramic	
art_amt	String	Yes		Artifact Amount	Field type artifact	
type	String	Yes		Geramic Artifact	Split policy String	
collec_met	String	Yes		Collection Metho	Merge policy Default value	
condition	String	Yes		Condition	Code	Description
date_rec	String	Yes		Date Recorded	Coarse Earthenware	Coarse Earthenware
disposillion	String	Yes		Disposition	Stoopware	Stoopware
photon	String	Yes		Photographe	Sicheward	Otomeward
sile	String	Yes		Sile ID	Refined earthenware	Retined earthenware
font_id.	String	Yes		Feature ID	Percelain	Porcelain
file_update	String	Yes		File Updated		
shrt_desc	String	Yes			100	

Figure 4. Tennant's tables of ceramic in a geodatabase.

This sound model and categories for feature classes was most useful during project development, however, Tennant does not account for stratification. Instructions for testing and

downloading sample data to determine the soundness of the database before to implementation are also included. Because of the potential for great variability amongst cultural materials and assemblages present at an archaeological site, the author stresses the importance of project/sitespecific database design to suit the environment, confirming earlier thoughts during the review of the artifact catalog. Because sites vary greatly from one area and time period to another, it is highly desirable to design a project-specific geodatabase to manage relationships and feature classes.

2.2.3 Best Practices in Geodatabase Design

The Esri publication by Arctur and Zeiler (2004) provided sound recommendations for planning the design and construction of the geodatabase. Their advice was to adopt an existing database schema template as the starting point, then to modify the template to suit the specific project needs. While that would have been highly desirable, a template could not be identified with closely aligned qualities needed for this project. The model proposed by Tennant (2007), discussed above, provided the nearest basis for comparison. In addition, Arctur and Zeiler suggest recommendations for a workflow, which was followed in the development of this geodatabase. It provides for continuous improvement and testing through a six step process: 1) obtain or develop a design, 2) modify the design, 3) load data, 4) build topological relationships, 5) test the model, and 6) revise the model. Each of these major steps was further broken down into a logical progression of small tasks required to bring the project to fruition. Careful analysis of the data, layers, feature classes, feature datasets, topology, domains, and relationships created a foundation upon which to build.
Chapter 3: Methodology

This chapter discusses the rationale and methodology behind the development plans for the Bethsaida Excavation spatial database project. Section 3.1 provides a general methods overview. Section 3.2 looks at the data requirements, equipment and software needed. Section 3.3 investigates each of the data sets, their contents, and how each was prepared and processed for use. Section 3.4 reviews the geodatabase programming needs, and section 3.5 includes a detailed project timetable with dependencies and expected completion dates.

3.1 Overview of Methodology

This section discusses the types of data that were needed and the field expertise required of individuals who were the intended end users of this application. A previous project in the SSCI-582 Spatial Databases class under the oversight of Dr. Jordan Hastings served as inspiration for this approach.

Data from an archaeological excavation comes in a wide variety of formats, sources, and in varying degrees of accuracy. One of the goals here was to unite those sources into a single cohesive structure to improve the quality of the data and demonstrate that the data sets can be combined spatially to produce robust visualizations based on a well-organized framework and classification system.

Much of the data received from the Consortium was in tabular format and required some cleanup, preparation and reestablishing relationships before it could be imported into Esri ArcMap version 10.4. MS Access database tables, Excel spreadsheets, Portable Document Format (PDF) documents, and high-resolution imagery are examples of the types of data that all needed to come together. Spatial data consists of point and polygon shapefiles. The process for completing this task is outlined in Section 3.3.1. Two datasets that were identified as necessary early on could not be obtained (the elevation [stratification] data, and the excavation master grid [point] data). This did not hinder the development of the project, however, as it was possible to create schemas to substitute for the actual measurements and points that have been used historically in the field by the archaeologists.

Frequent communication, mostly via email, with several of the Consortium archaeologists has been instrumental in shaping the needs of this project. They form a core group of advisors during the development of this application. Key individuals participating in this process were Dr. Rami Arav (University of Nebraska, Omaha), Dr. Carl Savage (Drew University), Dr. Jerome Hall (University of San Diego), Dr. Harry Jol (University of Wisconsin – Eau Claire), and Dr. Nicolae Roddy (Creighton University).

3.2 Research Design

Existing archaeological geodatabases were examined for features and entities, relationships and domains, feature classes and fields, and then were compared to the pre-existing (non-spatial, MS Access) database during needs analysis. Based on the literature examined, there were many ideas that contributed to the final research design. The closest comparable project was found in Kacey Pham's USC thesis paper, the result of which stemmed from a common group project in the SSCI-582 Database class. The original concept for this database was a collaborative effort by Kacey Pham, Jennifer Titus, and myself.

3.2.1 Equipment and Software Used

Equipment used includes a MacBook Pro laptop running O/S X Yosemite (10.10.4) and also running Windows 8 on a dual boot system. A Trimble GeoXH 3000 (running ArcPad software 10.0, GPS Controller 2.22, and Windows Mobile 6.1) was used for field collection in

2015. ArcGIS (10.4) and MS Office 2011 and 2013 were instrumental in the development of this database. Lucidchart was also employed to diagram the relationships and entities during the design phase.

3.2.2 Data Description, Requirements, and Quality

All data sets (except those that were self-gathered) are the property of the Bethsaida Consortium, and the quality varies. Unfortunately, there are no alternative sources as the data sets are unique to the excavation and largely legacy data, ranging in date from 1989 to 2014. Also note that much of the data is gathered by volunteers or untrained amateur archaeologists, and therefore often inaccurate in original descriptions.

Table 1 below succinctly summarizes the data involved in this project. It includes the data description, the spatial or non-spatial nature of the data, data sources, formats and types of data, project requirements, and quality.

Data Description	Data Type & Requirements	Data Quality
Tabular data – artifact	Type: MS Access database on	Cannot be assessed – quality of
information	local computer	content depends greatly on data entry and knowledge of the
Source: Bethsaida Consortium	Requirements: Must be able to	individual assessing each find.
	export from MS Access to Excel	Legacy data must be assumed to
Non-Spatial		be correct due to these
	Must have sufficient detailed	limitations.
	information to categorize data	
Stratification data	Type: MS Excel spreadsheet	A schema was designed to
		accommodate stratification
Non-spatial - categorical	Requirements: Must have	classification in lieu of actual
assignment	sufficient information for	elevation measurements.
	applying breaks to strata.	
	Stratification categories apply	
	site-wide as blanket coverage	

Table 1. Data Description, Sources, Requirements, and Quality

Data Description	Data Type & Requirements	Data Quality
CAD drawing Source: Bethsaida Consortium Non-spatial (prior to georeferencing)	<i>Type:</i> Adobe PDF format <i>Requirements:</i> High resolution/print quality document that when scanned and imported to ArcGIS renders clear imagery	Successful geocoding revealed that the accuracy of the CAD drawing has sufficient resolution.
Excavation grid Non-spatial (prior to georeferencing)	<i>Type:</i> Created vis Fishnet Tool in ArcMap. <i>Requirements:</i> None	A schema was designed to replace data that was unavailable and inaccurate/incomplete. This serves as a reference grid covering the entire 26-acre site.
Aerial Photography – high resolution imagery Source: Bethsaida Consortium Non-spatial (prior to georeferencing)	<i>Type:</i> JPEG format <i>Requirements:</i> High-resolution imagery to meet the needs of large-scale visualization. Provides sufficient visual detail to 5 meters	Excellent resolution (360 dpi) with only a small area of non- coverage, which does not lie within an active area.
Point and polygon data Source: Field collection Spatial	<i>Type:</i> Shapefiles – point and polygon <i>Requirements:</i> Points to include significant monuments, structures, roads. Polygons to include active areas	Meter level accuracy based on visual inspection and configuration

3.3 Data Narrative

The following sections describe each of the data sets that were incorporated into the resulting final project. Section 3.3.1 reviews the MS Access database. Section 3.3.2 is an overview of the stratification data's role. Section 3.3.3 discusses the CAD drawings, what and how they are used here. Section 3.3.4 examines the excavation grid. Section 3.3.5 looks at the aerial imagery. Section 3.3.6 investigates the point and polygon data collected in the field.

3.3.1 Tabular Data

Data from the MS Access database tables was easily exported into Excel spreadsheets. Subsequently there were a number of challenges involved in getting the tables formatted properly and accepted into ArcMap. Figure 5 below provides an example of the data, including errors, that was exported from the MS Access database (shown here is a portion of the Finds table). Typical errors that needed to be corrected manually included things like Roman Nails that were categorized as Pottery or Bronze and Silver Coins that were categorized as Pottery or Bone that was classified as Stone, etc. A total of 40,147 Finds and 31,999 Baskets were recorded within the pre-existing relational database. Other entities (tables) were recreated during the programming phase.

1	f_key	f_pieces	f_state	f_notes	f_material
39132	15083	2	4	(·)	Pottery
39133	15090	1		2)	Pottery
39134	15091	3	2	:-) PC	
39135	15092	10		>) Pc	
39136	15109	191	4	:-) Because Carl said so	Bone
39137	1321	1	+	?	Leather
39138	2210	1	+	1	Pottery
39139	19728	1	+	104gm	Basalt
39140	881	1	+	2 lines	Pottery
39141	4549	2	+	2 pieces - 2 piece two totated strands	1
39142	7770	2	+	2 roman nails	Pottery
39143	1476	1	+	S BLOOVE BLEELL DOM	Pottery
39144	19678	1	+	398gm	Basalt
39145	17953	1	+	7 cm	
39146	18923	1	+	9 cm	
39147	12117	1	+	A coin of Philip Gerod	Bronze
39148	15707	1	+	a handle of a jar with + mark on it.	
39149	15748	1	+	A hipo jar, notice the impact places.	Pottery
39150	11891	1	+	agate	Pottery
39151	18602	1	+	Alexander Jannaeus, bronze, IAA#143576, 104-76 BCE, W.	Pottery
39152	2682	4	-	also had plaster	Pottery
39153	2688	1	+	also had plaster	Pottery
39154	12173	1	+	an intact iron axehead. The second find of this type in this area.	Iron
39155	16642	1		animal teeth	Bone
39156	12178	1	+	Antiochus III 198 - 187 BCE	Bronze
39157	18920	1	+	Antiochus III bronze coin, minted in Ptolemais, 198 - 187 BCE,	Bronze
39158	12157	1	+	Antoninius Pius	Pottery
39159	12156	1	+	Antoninius Pius 153-154 CE (?)	Bronze
39160	14387	1	+	Antoninus Pius gold dinarius.	Pottery
39161	17369	1	+	Antoninus Pius Rome 145-161	Silver

Figure 5. A portion of the Finds table exported from MS Access into Excel spreadsheet. The data was often irrelevant, incomplete, or nonsensical, as evidenced here.

The process outlined here for formatting the Excel tables was complex and time consuming. The MS Access information, when exported to Excel, became static and relationships between fields and attributes no longer existed. Excel was chosen as the desired software to reestablish those relationships because of its ability to associate cells with one another by using the formula building feature, specifically VLOOKUP. A new Excel workbook was created and all relevant columns from the multiple MS Access tables were added to a single master worksheet with corresponding header labels. New worksheets, one for each entity, or table, were created to mirror the design of the ERD for loading into ArcMap. The Finds_ID was the single unique identifier that could be tied back to, and associated with, all other tables. Finds were sorted by type, then copied and pasted into the five sheets representing the five Finds entities. For example, all of the Find_ID's for Pottery were pasted into the Ceramic sheet. It was then necessary to find the Basket_ID, Basket_No, Loci_ID, Loci_No, Area_ID, and Strata_ID that corresponded to each unique Finds_ID. By using the VLOOKUP feature, this was accomplished and all relevant information related to each Finds_ID was restored on the master worksheet, resulting in a complete record for each artifact.

A total of 65 pairs of Easting and Northing coordinates from point data collected in the field were entered into the Excel spreadsheets (for testing purposes only) prior to importing a small sample of data into ArcMap, resulting in the desired spatial rendering as seen in Figure 6 below. Plotted points represent each record after importing to ArcMap.

100 III + 1 8-1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
1042		 f_key	f_pieces	f_material	easting	northing
Division Lyn		15083	2	Pottery	35.630645	32.911733
P testerada (m)		15090	. 1	Pottery	35.630645	32.911733
El fetterment	•	15091	3	Pottery	35.630645	32.911733
a de senar Saran, Prom		15092	10	Pottery	35.630965	32.911605
I Categoria		15109	191	Bone	35.630965	32.911605
D MARK Castles		1321	1	Leather	35.630965	32.911605
a fuirtht annual	•	2210	1	Pottery	35.630965	32.911605
D A Wet Ports		19728	1	Basalt	35.630696	32.911067
Contraction Continue		881	1	Pottery	35.630696	32.911067
C RAPAGerther		4549	2	Iron	35.630696	32.911067
DAbeline		7770	2	Pottery	35.630696	32.911067
D tong brand the		 	-			

Figure 6. Sample legacy data (right) successfully imported to ArcMap with resulting points (left).

3.3.2 Stratification Data

A schema for stratification data was created for this project in order to accommodate depth. One column in the Excel spreadsheet handles the z measurement in a categorized manner, associating each database record (when known) as belonging to one of 8 different strata; 1 being closest to the surface, and 8 currently being the deepest. This eliminates the need for elevation readings for each artifact record, although actual elevation readings are included as a part of each Loci record for reference in legacy data as well as new collections.

3.3.3 CAD Drawing

Detailed CAD drawings of 4 active excavation squares were obtained from the Consortium in PDF format. These were used to further confirm accuracy of reference points and monuments. Each was digitizing into JPG format, imported to ArcMap as a data layer, and georeferenced using field collection data points via the Georeferencing tool in ArcMap. Figure 7 shows one of the CAD drawings after import and with 3 georeferenced points visible.



Figure 7. Imported CAD drawing with 3 georeferenced points.

3.3.4 Excavation Grid

It would have been highly desirable to geolocate the original excavation grid onto the basemap, however, that information was not available during the course of this project development and it was noted that many of the site markers are missing, have been moved, or have been vandalized over time, thus rendering it inaccurate. The grid acts as an overarching framework at the site to provide "constant" reference points when measuring distances and elevations in the field. It also provides historical monument information and assists in confirming geolocation accuracy of new data. Since this data was deemed a loss, a fishnet was applied in ArcMap as a suitable substitute strategy in order to establish consistent reference points in the digital environment. These new reference points do not have any similar absolute or relative locations to the original on-site markers, but the new digital schema can actually be considered a more reliable and consistent source than the old, on-site markers due to significant disruption in the field. Figure 8 below shows the fishnet applied over a data layer.



Figure 8. Fishnet polygons applied in ArcMap.

3.3.5 Aerial Photography

High-resolution aerial photography of the excavation was obtained from the Consortium and added to ArcMap as a data layer. This layer became the basemap for the project. The imagery of this part of the world is not readily available via web services to an extent needed to carry out this project, so it was necessary to procure photography with a high level of detail. The Consortium had made special arrangements for this photography in 2014 in the hopes that it would enhance ongoing research opportunities. Point data collected in the field was added to the map as layers, which were then used to georeference the imagery using the Georeferencing tool in ArcMap. Figure 9 shows the aerial imagery after import to ArcMap and with some georeferencing points in place.



Figure 9. Entire excavation overview after georeferencing (left), and southern end of excavation shown in more detail (right).

3.3.6 Point/Polygon Field Data

Several sets of point data were collected in late June and early July of 2015 on-site at the excavation. The collection was executed using Trimble GeoXH-3000 running ArcPad 10.0 and GPS Controller 2.22 software on a Windows Mobile 6.1 operating system. GPS Controller and ArcPad software were configured to require a maximum Position Dilution of Precision (PDOP) tolerance of 6, and a minimum satellite configuration number of 5, at a minimum of 15 degrees

above the horizon, settings recommended as striking a nice balance between precision and productivity (Texas Tech University, 2012). Data was collected in the Geographic Coordinate System (GCS) World Geodetic System (WGS) 1984, and projected in Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM) zone 36N (See Figure 10 below for geographic coverage) in ArcMap. Real time satellite coverage diagrams for precise location information can be found in Appendix A for each of dates June 28 through July 1, 2015.



Figure 10. UTM zone 36N, region of study site (image from SpatialReference.org [last accessed 30 May 2016]).

Various data sets include greater site monuments (for reference, objects that are not likely to change or move), individual active square corners, grid stakes (master grid) and parameters, and significant structures (walls, roads, city gate area). Each was then added to ArcMap in individual layers. Figure 11 shows what the data looks like during the collection process on the handheld Trimble device.



Figure 11. Trimble during data collection in Bethsaida, Israel, 2015. Figure 12 shows the various points and layers that were then added to ArcMap as the Initial Survey Points layer. Some difficulty was encountered with the import of the data to ArcMap due to unfamiliarity with the workflow, however, once the proper files were associated and indexed in the layer properties it became clear as to what data storage structure requirement functionality was needed for this workflow. Post processing data correction was not accomplished or possible, as the GPS log files were not captured during the collection process due to an oversight during device configuration. Based on the large-scale nature of the project and the ability to overlay the points onto the high-resolution photography, combined with the PDOP and satellite restrictions that were in place during the collection process, it is believed that the evidence for data accuracy is quite reliable. Visual inspection of the plotted data aligns as expected and according to detailed notes taken during the collection process. In addition, the geographic location is nearly free of canopy cover and obstructions, and the Trimble GeoXH 3000 provides 1 to 3-meter accuracy, which can be further enhanced to subfoot accuracy with real time or post-processing (Trimble, 2012).



Figure 12. Data collected in the field using ArcPad via Windows Mobile operating system on Trimble GeoXH-3000 brought from ArcPad into ArcMap and visualized in layers.

The Initial Survey Points layer acts as a foundational layer for the overarching site georeferencing. Points were taken throughout the 26-acre site in order to work with the aerial photography and gain better accuracy when working within a single collection square, a smaller geographic unit, often about 10 x 10 meters in size. The handheld collection also served as an example of improved workflow through mobile device integration in the field. Point and polygon shapefiles (feature classes) with domains exhibit the power of limited input options.

3.4 Geodatabase Development Rationale

Many other databases and articles were consulted in the design phase of the new entity relationship diagram (ERD). It was essential to develop a keen sense for the necessary range of materials and attributes to be considered for inclusion in this database as well as potential problems that might be encountered. It was also necessary to keep it as simple as possible. This research involved gaining as much insight as possible from the archaeologists and directors of the Consortium. Early on, the local MS Access database was evaluated for suitability and flaws, and a resulting list of database tables including datasets, entities, feature classes, and attributes emerged. See Appendix A for all database tables.

Section 3.4.1 reviews the structure of the MS Access database. Section 3.4.2 provides an overview of the redesigned spatial database. Section 3.4.3 illustrates examples of simple queries for testing purposes.

3.4.1 Preexisting Entity Relationship Diagram

The diagram from the existing MS Access database is shown in Figure 13 below. It was much more complex than what was needed and contained entities that were omitted in the development of this project. Entities circled in yellow were selected for revised inclusion and were deemed necessary for the desired visualization. Basket and artifact photos will be collected in the field concurrently with artifact information on the handheld devices; however, the photographs are not stored in the geodatabase during this phase of the project, just referenced there. Licensing entities were also eliminated as they were not currently in use or needed. Notes are now handled as an inclusive field within each of the remaining entities rather than having Notes as an entity of its own. Stratum used to be handled as a field within the Baskets entity but will become an entity/table itself in the new design. Domains will be added as drop-down menu choices for data entry to aid in the ontological and semantical consistency desired vs. open ended data entry.



Figure 13. Existing ERD, yellow circles indicate entities that have been translated into the new geodatabase.

3.4.2 The Redesigned Entity Relationship Diagram

Once the elements to be included in the database had been determined, the scope advanced to designing the Entity Relationship Diagram (ERD) where the relationships between the tables and key fields were established. Multiple revisions of the ERD resulted in this final design. It is the essence and blueprint of this geodatabase. Careful design at this stage was critical to the success of the project and USC faculty thesis advisors and Consortium members were asked to contribute their feedback, expertise, and suggestions for programming and improvement. Figure 14 below depicts the basic ERD conceptual diagram that was settled on for development.



Figure 14. Finalized concept for the new spatial database, the Entity-Relationship Diagram.

The inclusion of Coded Value domains in the geodatabase infrastructure will ensure that proper categorization during the collection process aids in querying the data during the analysis phase. Coded Values also ensure that typographical errors do not influence data input and that only relevant options present themselves for selection within each entity. This reinforces the ontological and semantical consistency that was lacking in the MS Access database. Table 2 describes some of the Coded Value domains that were included in this design to create an efficient analysis environment.

Entity	Domain Name	Domain Selections
Ceramic	Condition	Whole
Glass		Fragment
		Scatter
Glass	Color	Clear
		Green
		Blue
		Yellow
		Red
		Other
Metal	Material	Bronze
		Gold
		Iron
		Lead
		Silver
Metal	Туре	Coin
		Jewelry
		Tool
Organic	Material	Bone
		Leather
		Textile
		Wood
Stone	Material	Basalt
		Flint
		Limestone
		Stone

Table 2.	Coded	Value	Domains
1 4010 2.	00404	, arac	Domains

It was also necessary to identify and classify each of the strata. A domain schema was developed which will allow users to select a strata from a drop-down menu during the data entry process and the schema has been applied site-wide as a blanket approach at this time.

Once the model was thoroughly vetted for errors and completeness, the actual construction phase of the database in ArcGIS began. The ERD was translated into a working model that was used for data entry.

3.4.3 Testing and Sample Queries

A large sampling of legacy data from the MS Access database (ranging in date potentially from 1989 to 2014) was selected according to category and uploaded into the system to test the degree of compatibility and accuracy, and to aid in understanding any additional programming needs. The resulting visualizations of various layers were added to the basemap. Layers included a variety of artifact types in addition to vertical stratification categories in order to demonstrate the power of the z spatial component in the output. Sample queries were run and included spatial, temporal, and attribute field data input. Table 3 provides examples of queries that were used to assess the general functionality and complexity possible.

Table 3. Sample Test Queries

	Test Queries
Query 1	Query the Stone attribute table
	Find all of the Flint records in the Stone entity that were excavated from Strata 6
Query 2	Query the Organics attribute table
	Find all of the Bone records in the Organic entity that were excavated on a specific date
Query 3	Query the Metal attribute table
	Find all of the Bronze records in the Metals entity that are classified as Coin and were excavated from Strata 2
Query 4	Query the Glass attribute table
	Find all of the Blue records in the Glass entity that are classified as Fragment
Query 5	Query the Ceramics attribute table
	Find all of the pottery from the Ceramic entity that are classified as Whole and that were found in Area A and also were excavated from Strata 6
Query 6	Query the Ceramics attribute table
	Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classified as Whole and comprised of less than six pieces
Query 7	Query the Organic attribute table
	Find all of the Bone in the Organic entity that was excavated within a specific range of dates

Chapter 4: Results

This chapter provides an overview of the results that were achieved in the development of this geodatabase. Section 4.1 discusses the final design and relationships included in the model. Section 4.2 describes population of the spatial database. Section 4.3 summarizes query results during the testing phase, and section 4.4 illustrates data visualization. Section 4.5 summarizes the results herein.

4.1 Geodatabase Design and Relationships

The ERD discussed in Chapter 3 and pictured in Figure 14 was translated and built in ArcMap without further revision. The simplicity of the final design combined with the ability to perform complex queries resulted in a system that will prove useful in performing the most common and typically needed functions. As mentioned in Chapter 3, many entities were omitted from the MS Access legacy database in order to streamline data entry both in the field and when working on a desktop system. Figure 15 provides a closer look at the relationships between the entities. The foreign keys associated with the Finds feature classes are directly responsible for and provide the power to carry out various and specific queries.



Figure 15. Relationships within the ERD

Grid Cell entities are strictly for referencing field activity and provide a consistent location association with all parts of the greater site. They are numbered from 1 to 200 beginning in the upper left of the fishnet. Area is the entity used to associate artifacts, baskets, and loci to an active excavation pit. The Site, the overarching highest level entity, has a one to many relationship with the Grid Cells, Areas, and Strata. The Areas have a one to many relationship with the Loci, Baskets, and Artifacts. Likewise each Loci can only belong to a single area, but may result in multiple baskets and artifacts. A Basket can only be associated with a single Loci, but again, many artifacts may be contents within a single basket. An artifact (anything included in one of the 5 Finds feature classes) can only belong to one Basket, one Loci, one Area, and one Strata. Finds do not have relationships with one another. The Find records are the core of the database, each having a single and unique record entry.

The ERD was translated into a working model in ArcMap and resulted in the structure shown in Figure 16. Feature classes, shapefiles, tables, relationships and topology are illustrated here along with some resulting layers and imagery, basemap and CAD drawings.



Figure 16. Geodatabase contents as viewed in ArcMap

4.2 Populating the Database

It was originally hoped and planned to enter approximately 200 legacy records into the database along with field data collected in 2015 - enough to visualize, query, and thoroughly test the design. After extensive time was spent on the tabular data formatting and master spreadsheet creation outlined in Chapter 3, it was possible to load a total of 25,427 records into the new geodatabase. These records did not include any spatial information, however, so 65 sets of

coordinates were used to load into the majority of these records for testing purposes only, covering Areas A and T. This provided ample opportunity to demonstrate the power of the x and y coordinates. In addition, the categorized schema for stratification attaches a depth classification to each artifact record (which is assumed to be accurate and was included in the legacy data) making it possible to return specific results as to which artifacts have been excavated from each level, and in each area. Figure 17 is an example of the tabular data including test spatial coordinates, ready for loading into ArcMap. Notice that the 'z' coordinate column remains empty, but that the Strata_ID_FK gives each record a depth classification.

1	Metal_I) Pieces	Material	Туре	x	у	z	Date	Notes	Area_ID_FK	Loci_ID_FK	Basket_ID_FK	Strata_ID_FK
92	17348	1	Bronze		35.631074	32.909772	1	5/25/2012		0	1147	11228	6
93	17355	1	Bronze	Coin	35.630957	32.909709		5/25/2012	Autonomus Tyros bronze coin, date	0	1147	11228	6
94	17357	1	Bronze	Coin	35.630973	32.909694		5/25/2012	Hasmonean coin, minted at JErusale	0	1147	11228	6
95	17360	1	Bronze		35.630958	32.909643		6/6/2012		0	2241	23479	1
96	17362	1	Bronze	Coin	35.63098	32.909641		6/6/2012	Autonomous Tyros, bronze	0	2241	23479	1
97	17367	1	Bronze	Coin	35.631001	32.90966		6/6/2012	Bronze coin, Ptolemy I, Alexandria,	0	2241	23479	1
98	17358	1	Bronze	Coin	35.631005	32.909661		6/6/2012	Caracalla, Tyros, Bronze, 198 - 217 C	0	2241	23479	1
99	17366	1	Bronze	Coin	35.631046	32.90968		6/6/2012	Demetrius II, Tyros, Bronze, 144 - 14	0	2241	23479	1
100	17365	1	Bronze	Coin	35.630987	32.909707	'	6/6/2012	Ptolemy III, Tyros, Bronze, 246 - 222	0	2241	23479	1
101	17364	1	Bronze	Coin	35.630987	32.90971		6/6/2012	Roman provicial coin, Antioch (Syria	0	2241	23479	1
102	17361	1	Bronze	Coin	35.630995	32.909712		6/6/2012	Severus Alexander, Orthosia, Bronz	0	2241	23479	1
103	17359	1	Bronze	Coin	35.631022	32.909721		6/6/2012	unidentified coin	0	2241	23479	1
104	17356	1	Bronze	Coin	35.63061	32.909553		6/18/2010	Mark Antony and Cleopatra VII, min	0	1123	11091	1

Figure 17. Excel data, the Metal entity, prepared for loading into ArcMap

A summary of the data that was used to populate the geodatabase follows. Table 5 breaks down the categories of data into shapefiles and tables generated, along with the complete number of records each contains.

Name of Entity	Type of Entity	Number of Records Added
Site	Polygon Feature Class	1
Area	Polygon Feature Class	7
Grid Cell	Polygon Feature Class	200
Strata	Table	7
Baskets	Table	3,340
Loci	Table	998

Table 4. Records	s Used t	to Populate	Database
------------------	----------	-------------	----------

Name of Entity	Type of Entity	Number of Records Added		
Ceramic	Multipoint Feature Class	17,721		
Glass	Multipoint Feature Class	310		
Metal	Multipoint Feature Class	423		
Organic	Multipoint Feature Class	1,422		
Stone	Multipoint Feature Class	998		

The basemap was imported as a .jpg file and georeferenced using 5 points of field data in ArcMap. The results depict quite accurate placement of the points, usually within a foot or two of the actual reading location. Figure 18 gives a site-wide overview and scope of the points that were captured in the field for georeferencing purposes, while Figure 19 shows which points were used to georeferenced the image. Figure 20 provides a close-up view of the Iron Age city gate area and resulting accuracy of the data collection in most cases. Note the rectangular structural formations, the granary bins, and where the point locations fall at the corners.



Figure 18. Points captured site wide in the field for georeferencing purposes



Figure 19. The five points used for georeferencing purposes indicated with blue circles



Figure 20. Close up of georeferencing points and resulting accuracy at city gate area. Inset blue rectangle depicts the area of focus. Note the scale.

4.3 Query Results

Chapter 3 outlined several queries that would be run to test the effectiveness and thoroughness of the geodatabase. These queries represent typical use case scenarios, questions similar to what might frequently be asked by, and of, the archaeologists. Using the Select by Attribute feature in ArcMap records meeting only designated criteria were easily sorted for mapping. Quick turnaround time on these types of inquiries has not been possible in the past. Tables 6 provides a look at the results of those queries.

Table 5. Query Results

	Query Results
Query 1	Query the Stone attribute table
Goal	Find all of the Flint records in the Stone entity that were excavated
	from Strata 6
	Query: Material = 'Flint' AND Strata_ID_FK = 6
Results	Returned 43 out of 916 records
Select by Attributes	x
Method : Create a new selection	•
OBJECTID Store_ID	
Pieces Material	[]·题·题·局③回想×)资源每×
· <> Like	Stone QUJUCTID' SHAPE' Stone_ID Pieces Material Desc Cond x y z Date Notes Area_J0_FK LocL/D_FK Basket_J0_FK Str.
> >= And	213 Point 1219 9 Pint -thub -thub -thub -thub 62/12/001 0 1505 16307 214 Point 5742 1 Pint chub dhub dhub dhub dhub dhub 61/12/2001 0 1505 16307
< <= Or	Z23 Port 1942 1 Part 4Nub 4Nub 4Nub 6252001 0 1511 16322 Z24 Port 1343 1 Part 4Nub 4Nub 4Nub 6252001 0 1511 16322 Z24 Port 1343 1 Part 4Nub 4Nub 4Nub 60252001 0 1511 16322 270 Port 140 4Nub 4Nub 6025200 0 1511 16322
() Not	ZZS (rotht 1344 1 Fatt onup
Is in Null Get Unique Values Go To: SELECT * FROM Stone WHERE:	231 Point 1162 21 Filt dub tub tub tub tub tub tub tub tub tub t
Material = 'First' AND Strata_ID_FK = 6	252 Point 3968 5 Pint Hulb
	258 Point 4922 18 Plant
Cear Verfy Help Load Save	14 4 1 P H = 0 (43 out of 916 Selected)
Acoly Class	Stone
Ouery 2	Query the Organics attribute table
Cool	Find all of the Done records in the Organic antity that were executed
Goal	Find an of the bone records in the Organic entity that were excavated
	on a specific date
	Query: Material = 'Bone' AND Date = date '2014-06-30 00:00:00'
Results	Returned 4 out of 1422 records
Select by Attributes	X Customize Windows Help
Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window.	
Method : Greate a new selection	The second
Organic ID Partes	
Material Desc	Table D
a co Line	2. 四·蜀·蜀母。 四母× 当皇母×
> >= And	Organic OBJECTID · SHAPE · Organic_ID Pieces Material Desc Cond x y z Date Notes Area_ID_FK Loci ID_FK Basket ID_FK
< <- Qt	▶ 1982 Punt 21021 23 Bone -Huub -Huub -Huub Huub Huub <th< td=""></th<>
_ % () Not	1417 Peint 21078 Bits -Nub -Nub -Nub -Nub 6002014 0 1215 1151 1419 Peint 21074 22 Bone -Nub -Nub -Nub 6002014 0 1215 1151
ts in Null Get Unique Values Go To SELECT * FROM Organic WHERE	
Material = 'Bone' AND Date = date '2014-06-30 00:00:00'	
Clear Venly Help Load Save	
Apply Close	H 4 1 + H P (4 out of 1422 Selected)

Query 3	Query the Metal attribute table											
Goal	Find all of the Bronze records in the Metals entity that are classified											
	as Coin and were excavated from Strata 2											
	Query: Material = 'Bronze' AND Type = 'Coin' AND											
	Strata_ID_FK = 2											
Results	Returned 18 out of 423 records											
[
Select by Attributes X. Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window.	Customez Windows Help											
Method Create a new selection ~	A 也 A I I 电 g											
OBJECTID A *	NUCLE MEETING A RELIGION											
Pieces Material												
- <> Like	□·□•□●□□●× ●●□●□●□●×											
> > And	Metal ODJUCTID* SHAPE* Metal,ID Pieces Material Type x y z Date Notes											
s se Or	43 Peint 8559 1 Branze Cals eNub eNub 64/2/008 Philip 48 Peint 10719 1 Branze Cost <nub< td=""> <nub< td=""> <nub< td=""> <t></t>7/3/2008 smalt transe com</nub<></nub<></nub<>											
To () Not	56 Poet 12117 1 Bronze Cols 4lub											
SELECT * FROM Metal WHERE	S8 (Point 12/145 1 Bronze Cein -Hull Hull HULL HULL B/1/2009 Cein 0 Ceacing 24-249 CE S9 (Point 12/156 1 Bronze Cein -Hull HULL B/1/2009 Roman provincial 00 (Death -1001 -1001 -1001 -1001 B/0/2009 Roman provincial											
Material = 'Branze' AND Type = 'Coin' AND Strata_ID_FK = 2	61 Point 12159 1 Bronze Coint - data - Anab - 6/102-00 Antonina Point Bronze Br											
	69 Point 14447 1 Bronze Coin diuls											
Clear Verfy Help Load Save	144 Point 18912 1 Broaze Coln dlub dlub club 6/25/2013 Authonomous Tyros, bronze, 147-148 CE, IAA # 143570, W 426 gr da 15 mm.											
Apply Close	14 • 1 • 11 🔚 💻 (18 out of 423 Selected)											
	Metal											
O	Querry the Class ettribute tehle											
Query 4	Query the Glass attribute table											
Goal	Find all of the Blue records in the Glass entity that are classified as											
	Fragment											
	Query: Color = 'Blue' AND Cond = 'Fragment'											
Results	Returned 46 out of 310 records											
Select by Attributes X	Customize Windows Help											
Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window.												
OBJECTID	ALステロー×IISh ウスタルのITE											
Gass_ID Peoes												
Material Color	Table											
- <> Like	1. · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·											
> >= And	OBJECTID ⁺ SHAPE ⁺ Glass_ID Preces Material Color Cond x y z Date Notes											
<u>e</u> <u>or</u>	44 Point 239 1 Glass Bue Fragment											
_ % () Not	49 Point 888 1 Glass Bue Fragment <nui> <</nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui></nui>											
Is in Null Get Unique Values Go To: SELECT * FROM Gass WHERE:	57 Point 1128 1 Guass Blue Fragment cMub <mub< th=""> Mub <</mub<>											
Color + 'Blue' AND Cond + 'Fragment'	T1 (Pent 2527 1 (Diess Blue Fragment cNub cNub cNub 215 (2003) 76 Pont 4882 1 (Giess Blue Fragment <nub< td=""> <nub< td=""> 1/7/2005</nub<></nub<>											
	81 Point 6144 1 Class Blue Fragment «Null+ «Null+ 6/7/2006 84 Point 7000 1 Class Blue Fragment «Null+ «Null+ «Null+ %7/2006											
	88 Point 7185 1 Glass Blue Fragment											
Oear Verfy Help Load Save	C > 16 4 1 5 16 (46 out of 310 Selected)											
Apply Oose	Glass											

Goal	Query the Ceramics attribute table										
- uni	Find all of the pottery from the Ceramic entity that are classified										
	as Whole and that were found in Area A and also were excavate										
	from Strata 6										
	Hom Strata 0										
	Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Area $_ID_FK = 0$ ANI										
	Strata_ID_FK = 6										
Results	Returned 12 out of 17721 records										
Select by Attributes											
Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window.											
Method : Create a new selection											
OBJECTID /	▲ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·										
Pieces	Ceramic										
Condition	OBJECTID* SHAPE* Ceramic_ID Pieces Material Condition x y z Date + 10 Point 1107 1 Pottery Whole <null> <null> 6/18/2001 bowl</null></null>										
= <> Like	Image:										
> >= And	20 Point 4396 1 Pottery Whole <null> <null> <null> 7/4/2005 bow/ 24 Dole 4749 10 Dottery Whole Mull> Mull> <null> 7/4/2005 bow/ 10 Dottery 10 Dottery 10 Dottery</null></null></null></null>										
<. <= 0r	34 Cont 47.10 1 Potery Vitale Nulli> Nulli> Nulli> Nulli> Outery										
_ % () Not	48 Point 7653 1 Pottery Whole <nul> <nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul></nul>										
Is In Null Get Unique Values Go To:	93 Point 15708 1 Pottery Whole <nul> <nul> 6/20/2011 red burnished goblet 111 Point 18133 2 Pottery Whole <nul> <nul> 6/18/2013 jar</nul></nul></nul></nul>										
SELECT * FROM Ceramic WHERE:	117 Point 4647 4 Pottery Whole <nui⊅ (nui⊅="" 122="" 16="" 2005="" 4397="" 5="" 7="" <nui⊅="" after="" broken="" discovery="" discovery<="" point="" pottery="" td="" whole=""></nui⊅>										
Condition = Whole AND Area_ID_FK = 0 AND Strata_ID_FK = 6											
	1 + 1 + 1 = (12 out of 17721 Selected)										
	Ceramic										
Clear Venty Help Load Save											
Apply Close											
Apply Close											
Query 6	Query the Ceramics attribute table										
Query 6	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classified										
Query 6 Goal	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of loss than 6 pieces										
Query 6 Goal	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces										
Query 6 Goal	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces										
Query 6 Goal	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Query 6 Goal Results	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Query 6 Goal Results	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Acety Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Accely Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window.	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Acety Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method : Create a new selection	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Acety Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method: Create a new selection ObjectTip Create a new selection	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Apply Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method : Create a new selection OBJECTID Create a new selection OBJECTID Create a new selection OBJECTID Create a new selection	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Acety Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method : Create a new selection Objection Create a new selection Objection Preces Material Condition	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Apply Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method: Create a new selection OBJECTID Ceranic_ID Pieces Material Condition	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Apply Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method: Create a new selection OBJECTID Create all Continue Goal	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Apply Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method: Cleate a new selection OBJECTIO OBJECTIO Proces Material Condition Image: Select or one of the selection	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Apply Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method: Clease a new selection OBJECTID OBJECTIO Ceranic_ID Pieces Material Condition Condition 1 2 2 3 4 5 6	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Apply Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method: Ceratic a new selection Objection Objection Preces Material Condition Image: Select for Null Image: Select for Null	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Apply Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method: Create a new selection OBJECTIO Preces Material Condition Material Condition	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Accely Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method: Create a new selection OBJECTID Corranic_JD Pieces Material Condition SELECT * FROM Commic WHERE: Condition = Whole' AND Pieces < 6	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Accely Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method : Create a new selection OBJECTIO Condition ************************************	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Apply Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method : Create a new selection OBJECTID Ceranic_ID Process Material Condition * <td>Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6</td> Returned 119 out of 17721 records	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										
Apply Close Query 6 Goal Results Select by Attributes Enter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window. Method : Create a new selection OBJECTID Create a new selection Select by Attributes Example Condition Select Diversity Values Go To: SELECT * FROM Caremic WHERE: Condition = Whole' AND Pieces < 6	Query the Ceramics attribute table Find all of the pottery from the Ceramics entity that are classifie as Whole and comprised of less than 6 pieces Query: Condition = 'Whole' AND Pieces <6										

oal	Find all within a s	of the	Bone	in th		、 —					Query the Organic attribute table								
	within a s		DOILE	; m u	the Organic entity that was excavated														
	within a s	maaifi	o rone	ra of (lata	, U			5										
		specifi	c rang		late	3													
	Quoru:	Antorio	1 _	'Pone	, ,		ור	Jot	o >-	data '20	01 01 0	7							
	Query. I	viateria	u –	DUIK		71 11	וכ	Jai	C /-	uale 20	01-01-0	/							
	00:00:00	' AND	Date	$\leq d$	ate	200	01-	06-	04 00	:00:00'									
esults	Returned	50 ou	t of 14	422 re	cor	ds													
lect by Attributes X																			
ter a WHERE clause to select records in the table window.		* *			-														
ethod : Create a new selection ~																			
		1 1 1	11	1 1															
1.		8																	
: Date																			
Notes		Organic ID	Pieces 1	Interial De	ic Con	4 L X	1	17	Date	Notes	Area ID FK	10							
a 18 18 data '2001-05-16 00:00:00'	49 Point	20497	11 Bor	ie <nul< td=""><td>> <nul></nul></td><td><null></null></td><td><nul></nul></td><td><nul></nul></td><td>6/20/2014</td><td>notes</td><td>0</td><td></td></nul<>	> <nul></nul>	<null></null>	<nul></nul>	<nul></nul>	6/20/2014	notes	0								
date 2001-05-17 00:00:00	50 Point	20708	16 Bor	ie <nul< td=""><td>⊳ <nulb< td=""><td><null></null></td><td><nul⊳< td=""><td><nul⊳< td=""><td>6/26/2014</td><td></td><td>0</td><td></td></nul⊳<></td></nul⊳<></td></nulb<></td></nul<>	⊳ <nulb< td=""><td><null></null></td><td><nul⊳< td=""><td><nul⊳< td=""><td>6/26/2014</td><td></td><td>0</td><td></td></nul⊳<></td></nul⊳<></td></nulb<>	<null></null>	<nul⊳< td=""><td><nul⊳< td=""><td>6/26/2014</td><td></td><td>0</td><td></td></nul⊳<></td></nul⊳<>	<nul⊳< td=""><td>6/26/2014</td><td></td><td>0</td><td></td></nul⊳<>	6/26/2014		0								
> >= And date 2001-05-31 00:00:00	51 Point	21135	15 Bor	ie <nul< td=""><td>< Nulb</td><td><null></null></td><td><nul⊳< td=""><td><nul⊳< td=""><td>7/2/2014</td><td></td><td>0</td><td></td></nul⊳<></td></nul⊳<></td></nul<>	< Nulb	<null></null>	<nul⊳< td=""><td><nul⊳< td=""><td>7/2/2014</td><td></td><td>0</td><td></td></nul⊳<></td></nul⊳<>	<nul⊳< td=""><td>7/2/2014</td><td></td><td>0</td><td></td></nul⊳<>	7/2/2014		0								
date 2001-05-01-00:00:00	52 Point	257	15 Bor	ie <nul< td=""><td><>> ≺Nulb</td><td><nul></nul></td><td><nul⊳< td=""><td><nul⊳< td=""><td>5/14/2001</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>_</td></nul⊳<></td></nul⊳<></td></nul<>	<>> ≺Nulb	<nul></nul>	<nul⊳< td=""><td><nul⊳< td=""><td>5/14/2001</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>_</td></nul⊳<></td></nul⊳<>	<nul⊳< td=""><td>5/14/2001</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>_</td></nul⊳<>	5/14/2001		0	_							
< <= Or date '2001-06-03 00:00:00'	53 Point	326	1 Bor	e <nul< td=""><td>► <nulb< p=""></nulb<></td><td><null></null></td><td>≺Nui⊳</td><td>≺Nul⊳</td><td>5/15/2001</td><td></td><td>0</td><td></td></nul<>	► <nulb< p=""></nulb<>	<null></null>	≺Nui⊳	≺Nul⊳	5/15/2001		0								
2 (1) Net date '2001-06-04 00:00:00'	54 Point	329	1 Bor	ie <nul< td=""><td>► <nulb< p=""></nulb<></td><td><null></null></td><td><nul⊳< td=""><td>≺Nul⊳</td><td>5/15/2001</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>-</td></nul⊳<></td></nul<>	► <nulb< p=""></nulb<>	<null></null>	<nul⊳< td=""><td>≺Nul⊳</td><td>5/15/2001</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>-</td></nul⊳<>	≺Nul⊳	5/15/2001		0	-							
	55 Point	330	3 Bor	ie <nul< td=""><td>Nulb</td><td><null></null></td><td><nul></nul></td><td><nul></nul></td><td>5/15/2001</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>_</td></nul<>	Nulb	<null></null>	<nul></nul>	<nul></nul>	5/15/2001		0	_							
Is In Null Ger Unique Values Go To:	56 Point	519	49 Bor	ie <nul< td=""><td>> <nul></nul></td><td><null></null></td><td><nui></nui></td><td><nul></nul></td><td>5/17/2001</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>-</td></nul<>	> <nul></nul>	<null></null>	<nui></nui>	<nul></nul>	5/17/2001		0	-							
ELECT * EROM Omanic WHERE	52 Point	597	3 80	ie sinul	> <nul></nul>	<null></null>	ZNUIN	-snuit-	6/1/2001		0	-							
Added I Percel AND Date to Jate (2001 01 07 00-00-00) AND Date	59 Point	746	2 80	e «Nul	> «Nulb	«Null»	<nul></nul>	<nul></nul>	6/5/2001		0								
atenai = bone AND Date >= date 2001-01-07 00.00.00 AND Date A	60 Point	268	8 Bor	ie <nul< td=""><td>> <nub< td=""><td><null></null></td><td><nul></nul></td><td><nul></nul></td><td>5/9/2001</td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td></nub<></td></nul<>	> <nub< td=""><td><null></null></td><td><nul></nul></td><td><nul></nul></td><td>5/9/2001</td><td></td><td>1</td><td></td></nub<>	<null></null>	<nul></nul>	<nul></nul>	5/9/2001		1								
		1		-				1	1		-1	-							
	4 4 4 4 4 4																		
~			or 1422 Select	ed)															
	Organic																		
Clear Venty Heip Load Save																			
Annha Chara																			
Apply Close																			
		10 A.																	

4.4 Visualizing the Data

The ability to target and combine elements in a query greatly improves the ability to visualize specific elements. The following maps demonstrate the data output as a visual representation.

One of the goals of this project was to be able to use the CAD drawings in a spatial context. Figure 20 provides an example of a CAD drawing that was imported and georeferenced using field data. The accuracy provides archaeologists with the ability to see the changes of the excavation areas over time. As each dig year passes, the active areas change considerably so this can provide a powerful means of reconstructing what has been removed from the ground in prior years.



Figure 21. CAD drawing overlay in ArcMap at 40% transparency - Area A (South). Note the accuracy in the alignment of the corners of the granary bins at the top of the map

The ability to geographically show artifact find locations, distributions and concentrations is another frequently needed function. In the following examples (Figures 21 through 24) various artifacts have been added to maps using differing criteria. Using ArcMap, an archaeologist can get a complete and detailed listing of these objects by opening the attribute table. Once again, the spatial data was added for purposes of this demonstration only. Artifacts do indeed belong to the areas in which they are shown, however, the exact spatial coordinates were unknown.



Figure 22. Example visualization of coin data



Figure 23. Variation of visualization of coin data


Figure 24. Example visualization of varying categories of finds in an area



Figure 25. Example visualization of varying categories of finds in an area

4.5 Summary

The results described in this chapter confirm and demonstrate the completion of the project objectives including the conceptualization, design, creation, testing and implementation of a spatial database for specific use at the archaeological excavation in Bethsaida, Israel. Lessons learned and considerations for possible future work and development are discussed in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5: Conclusions

Final thoughts and discussion are presented in this chapter as are ideas for continued work and enhancement of this project. Section 5.1 reviews what went well and what did not, lessons learned. Section 5.2 covers plans for sharing the database with the Consortium and getting individuals trained on simple data entry techniques and how to run queries. Section 5.3 summarizes the importance of the investment in mobile field collection devices for accurate data gathering, and section 5.4 provides thoughts on future work and development.

5.1 Lessons Learned

The redesigned database resulted in a much simpler and more streamlined data flow. All entities have a purpose and the relationships are through the use of foreign keys and not separate entities as existed previously. The time invested on numerous ERD revisions seemed endless but proved to be well spent once the testing phase got under way and queries were returned smoothly and with a great deal of accuracy and complexity.

One of the greatest concerns initially was data acquisition, which admittedly, could have stopped the project in its tracks. It was known going into the final phase of the database construction that little, if any, communication with the Consortium would be possible as members would be out in the field during the months of May, June, and July. Fortunately, communication was started very early on, and all of the necessary requirements were obtained. The aerial imagery was especially helpful in bringing life to the subject area and creating a sense of the topography in the region.

Data preparation was another series of complex tasks that consumed a lot of time. Data from the MS Access database, when exported to Excel tables, required enormous amounts of manual cleanup. Many additional hours still need to be spent combing through the Finds and properly categorizing the records. Having more in-depth working knowledge of MS Excel would have been of great benefit. During the query testing phase, inconsistencies were noted such as some metal objects were classified as pottery, and bone as stone. Coin records did seem to have the necessary details included (although some were also discovered as improperly categorized), which is important as they are the only objects found in the archaeological record that contain dates (mint dates), helping to establish the historical time period of other objects nearby. Due to the rare nature of some of these finds (many are now in museums), it is extremely important to be able to show the exact extraction point location in order to validate surrounding finds. This will be a specific point for presentation to the Consortium and a justification for investing in handheld field collection devices going forward. It was noted that most other artifact records contained little or no description at all, making many records somewhat useless except to act as an item counted.

ArcPad software was new to the author, and the workflow into ArcMap was a bit of a challenge. Once the ArcPad files were properly associated with the various layers, the .mxd files rendered the captures as expected, which was extremely gratifying given that this process could not be tested in the field. It was noted during the data testing phase that GPS logging had not been enabled on the Trimble during collection. Thus no satellite data was recorded during the data gathering process, something to be aware of in the future when setting up the systems. See Appendix A for satellite coverage during hours of data collection for evidence that a minimum of 5 satellites were in place.

A much broader understanding of the excavation as a whole was achieved during the development of this project. The many components, various responsibilities, and workflows that have to be maintained both in the field and in the research process require skilled and

63

experienced individuals with a keen attention to detail. Future seasons in the field will be seen from a different perspective and with a renewed appreciation for all of the mechanisms that work together.

5.2 Onboarding Consortium Archaeologists

It is anticipated that Consortium archaeologists will be introduced to the new spatial database in November 2016, when they gather for a common conference. Due to the fact that many live in remote locations, it may be possible to set up a webinar style overview sooner. If possible, meetings will be set to work with individual(s) that are local to the San Diego area prior to November, where they will be shown the process from start to finish. A basic tutorial can be screen captured, recorded, and distributed via YouTube or web link. The likelihood that grad students and other volunteers will be doing much of the data input is high, and therefore a short recording highlighting the importance of steps in the workflow could be very useful. The author will continue to be involved with maintenance for the immediate future until server based access is achieved.

5.3 Recommendations for Field Collection

One of the most significant outcomes of this project is the justification for handheld field collection devices. The demonstrations in Chapter 4 reveal the power of spatial placement in the archaeological record using test data, but to have extraction points that are nearly exact would emphasize concentrations and distribution of artifacts visually, creating complete scenes within specific time periods. The data can then be further queried to show only artifacts that were gathered during a particular dig season, or to reveal all artifacts belonging to a specific historical time period. Furthermore, the added feature of the Coded Value Domains ensures that entries are properly and consistently catalogued for ontological and semantical accuracy.

64

The Trimble GeoXH 3000 that was used for this project was an affordable piece of equipment (purchased for \$1500 USD in 2015) and easy to travel with and configure. This device is extremely rugged and durable, has a long battery life and submeter accuracy which could be further improved with the adoption of a range finder antenna. Rotating new field roles for volunteers who gather data could be established and would allow students as well as archaeologists to become experienced in the process. It is recommended that one device is dedicated to each active area for the duration of the season annually.

Field collection also easily captures and exploits the value of the z-coordinate, which could replace, or be used in addition to, the strata categorization technique that is currently in use. The Trimble is also capable of capturing a photograph as a part of each point, line, or polygon, creating an all-inclusive and well-documented object in just a moment's time.

One of the greatest impacts introduced by the use of the mobile field collection devices is the accuracy to be gained in the description process. The Coded Value domains that are programmed into the database allow users a list of choices rather than open ended entry in blank fields. The potential for increased consistency in data reporting is worth the investment all on its own.

5.4 Future Development

Currently the application is a desktop application, but collaborative research would be greatly enhanced via a ArcMap installation on a shared server. This project could then be accessed by all individuals that are participants of the research team, and could allow data entry year round. This will be a recommendation that will be passed on to the Consortium members for consideration.

65

A web application for sharing the Bethsaida excavation data with academics and archaeology enthusiasts worldwide would serve the purpose of promoting the excavation to volunteer workers and as a platform for gaining support for continued work at the site. The Bethsaida web site (on the University of Nebraska, Omaha site) might be able to draw larger audiences and increase interest through the inclusion of a web map browser-based and accompanying mobile app highlighting the artifacts.

There are numerous historical CAD drawings that could be digitized, georeferenced, and added to a catalog in ArcMap. This may be a project for future graduate students and could also be done year round.

Each of the legacy Finds records has an associated photograph, which could be added to the record and called up in ArcMap. This would be an arduous process, but could again be an ongoing part of work completed by graduate students or volunteers interested in learning more about the objects that have been excavated from this site.

The very nature of this project suggests that continued improvements will be suggested as it is put to use. It is hoped that other students of GIS who volunteer at this excavation will show interest in contributing to the continued development and expansion of this project.

References

- Anderson, Kirsten L., and Ariane Burke. 2008. "Refining the definition of cultural levels at Karabi Tamchin: a quantitative approach to vertical intra-site spatial analysis." *Journal of Archaeological Science* 35 (8):2274-2285. doi: 10.1016/j.jas.2008.02.011.
- Arav, Rami, and Richard A Freund. 1995. *Bethsaida: A City by the North Shore of the Sea of Galilee, vol. 1.* Vol. 1: Truman State University Press.
- Arav, Rami, and Richard A Freund. 1999. *Bethsaida: A City by the North Shore of the Sea of Galilee, vol.* 2. Vol. 2: Truman State University Press.
- Arav, Rami, and Richard A. Freund, eds. *Bethsaida: A City by the North Shore of the Sea of Galilee, vol. 3.* Vol. 3. Truman State University Press, 2004.
- Arctur, David, and Michael Zeiler. *Designing Geodatabases: case studies in GIS data modeling*. ESRI, Inc., 2004.
- Bethsaida Excavations Project/University of Nebraska Omaha. Unomaha.edu. http://www.unomaha.edu/international-studies-and-programs/bethsaida/index.php (accessed March 27, 2016).
- Birkenfeld, Michal, Margaret D. Avery, and Liora Kolska Horwitz. 2015. "GIS Virtual Reconstructions of the Temporal and Spatial Relations of Fossil Deposits at Wonderwerk Cave (South Africa)." *African Archaeological Review* 32 (4):857-876. doi: 10.1007/s10437-015-9209-4.
- Brovelli, Maria Antonia, and Andrea Maurino. 2000. "ArcheoGIS: An interoperable model for archaeological data." *International Archives of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing* 33 (B4/1; PART 4):140-147.
- Burstrom, M., T. Diez Acosta, E. Gonzalez Noriega, A. Gustafsson, I. Hernandez, H. Karlsson, J. M. Pajon, J. R. Robaina Jaramillo, and B. Westergaard. 2009. "Memories of a world crisis: The archaeology of a former Soviet nuclear missile site in Cuba." *Journal of Social Archaeology* 9 (3):295-318. doi: 10.1177/1469605309337884.
- Carrion, Daniela, Federica Migliaccio, Guido Minini, Cynthia Zambrano. 2016. "From historical documents to GIS: A spatial database for medieval fiscal data in Southern Italy." *Historical Methods: A Journal of Quantitative and Interdisciplinary History* 49 (1): 1-10.
- Federici, Tommaso and Alessio Maria Braccini. "The Interplay between Practitioners and Technological Experts in the Design Process of an Archaeology Information System." 2012. Journal of Cases on Information Technology 14 (1): 26-45.

- Gallotti, Rosalia, Abderrahim Mohib, Mosshine El Graoui, Fatima Zohra Sbihi-Alaoui, Jean-Paul Raynal. 2011. "GIS and Intra-Site Spatial Analyses: An Integrated Approach for Recording and Analyzing the Fossil Deposits at Casablanca Prehistoric Sites (Morocco)." Journal of Geographic Information System 3 (4): 373-381.
- González-Tennant, Edward. 2009. "Using Geodatabases to Generate" Living Documents" for Archaeology: A Case Study from the Otago Goldfields, New Zealand." *Historical Archaeology*:20-37.
- Hyde, David Gerrit, Keshia Montifolca, and Scott Mattingly. 2012. "Archaeological Applications of GIS at the San Diego Presidio Chapel." *Proceedings of the Society for California Archaeology* 26.
- In-The-Sky.org: Guides to the night sky. https://in-the-sky.org/index.php (accessed May 30, 2016).
- Katsianis, Markos, Spyros Tsipidis, Kostas Kotsakis, and Alexandra Kousoulakou. 2008. "A 3D digital workflow for archaeological intra-site research using GIS." *Journal of Archaeological Science* 35 (3):655-667. doi: 10.1016/j.jas.2007.06.002.
- Laub, Karin. "Christianity's Launching Pad Is Being Excavated Bethsaida, Home Of Apostles, Played A Key Role In Jesus' Life." Spokesman.com. http://www.spokesman.com/stories/1995/jun/18/christianitys-launching-pad-is-beingexcavated/ (accessed March 26, 2016).
- Mihai, Sorin, Joyce Lundberg, Donald A. McFarlane, Barry Chandler. 2010. Pengelly's legacy reconsidered: a GIS approach to spatial analysis of palaeontological and archaeological collections from Kents Cavern, England. *Proceedings of the Geologists' Association* 121 (3):319-325.
- Newhard, James ML, Norman S Levine, Angelina D Phebus, Sarah Craft, and John D Littlefield. 2013. "A geoinformatic approach to the collection of archaeological survey data." *Cartography and Geographic Information Science* 40 (1):3-17.
- Pham, Kacey. 2015."GIS Data Curation and Web Map Application for La Brea Tar Pits Fossil Occurrences in Los Angeles, California" Master's Thesis. University of Southern California.
- Reed, D., W. A. Barr, S. P. McPherron, R. Bobe, D. Geraads, J. G. Wynn, and Z. Alemseged. 2015. "Digital data collection in paleoanthropology." *Evol Anthropol* 24 (6):238-49. doi: 10.1002/evan.21466.
- Rondelli, Glauco Mantegari–Alessandro Mosca–Bernardo. 2008. "A semantic based approach to GIS: the PO-BASyN project." Proceedings of the 36th CAA Conference.
- Sharon, Ilan, Yehuda Dagan, and Gilah Tzionit. 2004. "The [awful?] truth about GIS and archaeology." *British School at Athens Studies*:151-162.

- Spatial Reference. http://spatialreference.org/ref/epsg/wgs-84-utm-zone-36n/ (accessed May 30, 2016).
- Stewart, Andrew, T Max Friesen, Darren Keith, and Lyle Henderson. 2000. "Archaeology and oral history of Inuit land use on the Kazan River, Nunavut: a feature-based approach." *Arctic* 53 (3):260-278.
- Tennant, Edward W. 2007. "A sample geodatabase structure for managing archaeological data and resources with ArcGIS." *Technical Briefs in Historical Archaeology* 2:12-23.
- Texas Tech University Center for Geospatial Technology. http://gis.ttu.edu/gist4310/documents/lectures/Fall%202012/4310-04%20Principles%20of%20GPS%20Operation.pdf (accessed May 30, 2016).
- Trimble. http://trl.trimble.com/docushare/dsweb/Get/Document-528617/GeoExpl3000_UserGde_RevB_ENG.pdf (accessed May 30 2016).
- Tripcevich, Nicholas, and Steven A Wernke. 2010. "On-site recording of excavation data using mobile GIS." *Journal of Field Archaeology* 35 (4):380-397.
- Yeung, Albert KW, and G. Brent Hall. 2007. *Spatial database systems: Design, implementation and project management.* Vol. 87. Dordrecht: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Zeiler, Michael, and Jonathan Murphy. 2010. *Modeling our world: the ESRI guide to geodatabase design*. 2nd ed. Redlands: Esri Press.







Appendix B: Geodatabase Tables

Table 6. Topology

Topology				
Entity Rule Description				
Grid_Cell	Must not overlap	Grid cells must not overlap		

Table 7. Relationship Classes

Relationship Classes					
Entity/Attribute	Entity/Attribute	Relationship	Comments		
Site_ID	Area_ID	One-to-many	One Site contains many Areas		
Site_ID	Strata_ID	One-to-many	One Site contains many Strata		
Area_ID	Loci_ID	One-to-many	One Area may contain many Loci		
Loci_ID	Basket_ID	One-to-many	One Loci may contain many Baskets		

Table 8. Domains

Domains						
Entity	Domain Name	Domain Type	Domain Values	Description		
Ceramic/Glass	Condition	Coded Value	Whole Fragment Scatter	Condition of artifact found		
Glass	Color	Coded Value	Clear Green Blue Yellow Red Other	Color of glass found		
Metal	Material	Coded Value	Copper Bronze Silver Gold Iron Lead	Type of metal found		

Domains						
Entity	Domain Name	Domain Type	Domain Values	Description		
Metal	Туре	Coded Value	Coin Jewelry Tool Other	Object's intended use		
Stone	Material	Coded Value	Basalt Flint Limestone Stone	Type of stone found		
Strata	Strata_No	Coded Values	1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8	Sediment layer representing a distinct period of time		
Area	Area_Name	Coded Values	0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5	Active dig areas		

Table 9. Site Entity

Site - Polygon					
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys
Site_ID	Site ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary
Site_Name	Site Name	Text	NotNull		
Latitude	Latitude	Long Int.	Null		
Longitude	Longitude	Long Int.	Null		
Notes	Notes	Text	Null		

Table 10. Grid Cell Entity

Grid Cell - Polygon					
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys
Grid_Cell_ID	Grid Cell ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary
Grid_Cell_No	Grid Cell	Short Int.	NotNull		
	Number				
Notes	Notes	Text	Null		

Area - Polygon					
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys
Area_ID	Area ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary
Area_Name	Area Name	Text	NotNull		
Length	Length in	Short Int.	Null		
	Meters				
Width	Width in	Short Int.	Null		
	Meters				
Opened	Date Opened	Date	Null		
Notes	Notes	Text	Null		

Table 12. Loci Entity

Loci - Table					
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys
Loci_ID	Loci ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary
Loci_No	Loci Number	Text	NotNull		
Length	Length in	Short Int.	Null		
	Meters				
Width	Width in	Short Int.	Null		
	Meters				
Opened	Date Opened	Date	Null		
Stratum	Stratum No.	Short Int.	Null		
Level	Elevation	Short Int.	Null		
	Reading				
Notes	Notes	Text	Null		
Area_ID_FK	Area ID	Text	NotNull		Foreign

Table 13. Basket Entity

Basket - Table						
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys	
Basket_ID	Basket ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary	
Basket_No	Basket	Text	NotNull			
	Number					
Date	Date Collected	Date	Null			
Notes	Notes	Text	Null			
Loci_ID_FK	Loci ID	Text	NotNull		Foreign	
Area_ID_FK	Area ID	Text	NotNull		Foreign	

Table 14. Strata Entity

Strata - Table						
Field NameDescriptionData TypeNull ValuesUniqueKeys						
Strata_ID	Strata ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary	
Strata_No	Strata Number	Text	NotNull			
Description	Description	Text	Null			
Notes	Notes	Text	Null			

Table 15. Ceramic Entity

Ceramic – Point/Multipoint Feature Class					
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys
Ceramic_ID	Ceramic ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary
Cond	Condition	Coded Value	Null		
Pieces	No. Pieces Found	Text	NotNull		
Х	X coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
У	Y Coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
Z	Z Coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
Date	Date Found	Date	Null		
Notes	Notes	Text	Null		
Area_ID_FK	Area ID	Text	Null		
Loci_ID_FK	Loci ID	Text	Null		
Basket_ID_FK	Basket ID	Text	Null		
Strata_ID_FK	Strata ID	Text	Null		

Table 16. Glass Entity

Glass – Point/Multipoint Feature Class						
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys	
Glass_ID	Glass ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary	
Pieces	No. Pieces	Text	NotNull			
	Found					
Material	Material	Text	Null			
Color	Color	Coded	Null			
		Value				

Glass – Point/Multipoint Feature Class					
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys
Cond	Condition	Coded Value	Null		
Х	X coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
У	Y Coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
Z	Z Coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
Date	Date Found	Date	Null		
Notes	Notes	Text	Null		
Area_ID_FK	Area ID	Text	Null		
Loci_ID_FK	Loci ID	Text	Null		
Basket_ID_FK	Basket ID	Text	Null		
Strata_ID_FK	Strata ID	Text	Null		

Table 17. Metal Entity

Metal – Point/Multipoint Feature Class					
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys
Metal_ID	Metal ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary
Material	Material	Coded Value	NotNull		
Туре	Туре	Coded Value	Null		
Х	X coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
у	Y Coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
Z	Z Coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
Date	Date Found	Date	Null		
Notes	Notes	Text	Null		
Area_ID_FK	Area ID	Text	Null		
Loci_ID_FK	Loci ID	Text	Null		
Basket_ID_FK	Basket ID	Text	Null		
Strata_ID_FK	Strata ID	Text	Null		

Organic – Point/Multipoint Feature Class						
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys	
Organic_ID	Organic ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary	
Desc	Description	Text	Null			
Cond	Condition	Text	Null			
Х	X coordinate	Long Int.	Null			
у	Y Coordinate	Long Int.	Null			
Z	Z Coordinate	Long Int.	Null			
Date	Date Found	Date	Null			
Notes	Notes	Text	Null			
Area_ID_FK	Area ID	Text	Null			
Loci_ID_FK	Loci ID	Text	Null			
Basket_ID_FK	Basket ID	Text	Null			
Strata_ID_FK	Strata ID	Text	Null			

Table 18. Organic Entity

Table 19. Stone Entity

Stone – Point/Multipoint Feature Class					
Field Name	Description	Data Type	Null Values	Unique	Keys
Stone_ID	Stone ID	Text	NotNull	Unique	Primary
Pieces	No. Pieces Found	Text	NotNull		
Material	Material	Coded Value	Null		
Desc	Description	Text	Null		
Cond	Condition	Text	Null		
Х	X coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
у	Y Coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
Z	Z Coordinate	Long Int.	Null		
Date	Date Found	Date	Null		
Notes	Notes	Text	Null		
Area_ID_FK	Area ID	Text	Null		
Loci_ID_FK	Loci ID	Text	Null		
Basket_ID_FK	Basket ID	Text	Null		
Strata_ID_FK	Strata ID	Text	Null		